PART 19

Establishment of Safety Management System

This new part of the Jordanian Civil Aviation Regulations is hereby adopted under the authority and provisions of the Civil Aviation Law No. (41) of 2007.

Capt. Suleiman Obeidat
Chief Commissioner / CEO
Civil Aviation Regulatory Commission





Revision Control Sheet				
Amendment No.	Effective Date	Subpart	Paragraph	
Original	August, 2008	ALL	ALL	
10]		
		1		

Contents

Section No.	Subject
	SUBPART-A
	General Provision
19.1	Applicability.
19.3	Definitions.
19.5	Application for SMS Acceptance.
19.7	SMS structure.
19.9	Preparation of SMS.
19.11	Acceptance of SMS.
19.13 Thru	Reserved.
19.99	
	SUBPART- B
	Safety policy and objectives
19.101	General requirements.
19.103	Organizational structure and responsibilities.
19.105	SMS implementation plan.
109.107	Coordination of the emergency response plan.
19.109	Documentation.
19.111 Thru	Reserved.
141.199	
	SUBPART -C
	Safety risk management
19.201	General.
19.203	Hazard identification.
19.205	Risk management.
19.207	Internal safety investigations.
19.209 Thru	Reserved.
19.299	
	SUBPART-D
	Safety assurance
19.301	General.
19.303	Safety performance monitoring and measurement

19.305 19.307 19.309 Thru 19.399	Management of change. Continuous improvement of the safety system. Reserved.
19.399	Subpart - E
	Safety promotion
19.401	General.
19.403	Safety training.
19.405	Safety communication.
141.407	Quality policy.
19.409Thru	Reserved.
19.499	
	Subpart – F
	Implementation of the SMS
19.501	Phases of the SMS Implementation.

Appendix-A Application for SMS In compliance with JCAR –part 19 CARC Form DASS-19

Subpart – A General Provision

19.1 Applicability.

- (a) This Part prescribes the requirements for establishing a Safety Management System for operators and /or service providers operating in accordance with the following JCAR,
 - (1) JCAR Part 121 "Operating requirements: Domestic, flag and supplemental Operation".
 - (2) JCAR Part 135 "Operating requirements: commuters and on demand operations and rules governing persons on board such aircraft"
 - (3) JCAR Part 172 "Air Traffic Services", and
 - (4) JCAR Part139 "Certification and Operations of Land Airport".
- (b) Within the context of this part the term "operator and/or service provider" must be understood to designate any organization providing aviation related services. The term encompasses Air operating certificate holders, maintenance organizations, air traffic service providers and aerodrome operators, as applicable.
- (c) Operators and/or service providers shall establish, maintain and adhere to a safety management system (SMS) that is appropriate to the size, nature and complexity of the operations authorized to be conducted under its operations certificate and the safety hazards and risks related to the operations.
- (d) This part addresses the formal and systematic approach to aviation safety and its related processes and activities rather than occupational safety, environmental protection, or customer service quality.
- (e) The operator and/or service provider is responsible for the safety of services, subcontracted services, products contracted and purchased from other organizations.

(f) This part establishes the minimum acceptable requirements; the operator and/or service provider can establish more stringent requirements.

19.3 Definitions.

Aircraft Accident: means occurrence associated with the operation of an aircraft which takes place between the time any person boards aircraft with the intention of flight until such time as all such persons have disembarked, in which any person suffers death or serious injury as a result of being in or upon the aircraft or any thing attached thereto, or the aircraft receives substantial damage.

Acceptable level of safety: Level of safety which expressed in practical terms by two measures which are safety performance indicator and safety performance target.

Accountable Executive: A person who has full authority for human resources issues, major financial issues ,direct responsibility for the conduct of the organization's affairs, final authority over operations under certificate as well as responsibility for all safety issues.

Hazard: Condition, object or activity with the potential of causing injuries to personnel, damage to equipment or structures, loss of material, or reduction of ability to perform a prescribed function.

Mitigation: Measures to eliminate the potential hazard or to reduce the risk probability or severity

Occurrence: Indicates accident or incident.

Predictive: The predictive method captures system performance as it happens in real-time normal operations.

Proactive: The proactive method looks actively for the identification of safety risks through the analysis of the organization's activities.

Probability: The chance that a situation of danger might occur.

Reactive: The reactive method responds to the events that already happened, such as incidents and accidents.

Risk: The chance of a loss or injury, measured in terms of severity and probability. The chance that something is going to happen, and the consequences if it does.

Safety: is state in which the risk of harm to persons or property damage is reduced to, and maintained at or below, an acceptable level through a continuing process of hazard identification and risk management.

Safety performance monitoring: Activities being implemented by operators under SMS requirements.

Safety Oversight: A function were the CARC insure effective implementation of safety related standards contained in the CARC regulations.

Safety performance indicator: Short and medium term of a state safety program, or operator / service provider SMS.

Safety performance target: Long term of a state safety program, or operator/service provider SMS.

Safety management system (SMS): systematic approach to managing safety including the necessary organizational structure, accountabilities, policies and procedures.

Safety programme: An integrated set of regulations and activities aimed at improving safety.

Severity: The possible consequences of a situation of danger, taking as reference the worst foreseeable situation

19.5 Application for SMS Acceptance.

Each operator and/or service provider applying for CARC acceptance of SMS must submit a formal application (CARC form DASS-19), accompanied with it two copies of SMS manual.

19.7 SMS structure.

The structure of the SMS shall contain the requirements established in subpart B through subpart E.

19.9 Preparation of SMS.

Safety Management System Manual required by this part shall:

- (a) Be typewritten and signed by the operator and/or service provider;
- (b) Be in a form that is easy to revise;
- (c) Has the effective date and issuance status (original / amendment number on each page).
- (d) Has approval sheet showing issue number, amendment number and it is effective date; and
- (e) Be organized in a manner helpful to the preparation, review, and approval processes.

19.11 Acceptance of SMS.

Each operator and/or service provider as defined in 19.1(b) shall have in place a safety management system (SMS) that is acceptable to Civil Aviation Regulatory Commission (CARC), that, as a minimum:

- (1) Identifies safety hazards;
- (2) Ensures that remedial action necessary to maintain an acceptable level of safety is implemented. The acceptable level of safety shall be subject to CARC approvals.
- (3) Provides for continuous monitoring and regular assessment of the safety level achieved; and
- (4) Aims to make continuous improvement to the overall level of safety.
- (b) In order to be acceptable by the CARC, operator and /or service provider SMS shall meet the requirements set forth in this part, specifically, in subpart B through subpart E.

19.13 Thru 19.99 Reserved.

Subpart -B Safety policy and objectives

19.101 General requirements.

- (a) An operator and/or service provider shall define the organization's safety policy.
- (b) The safety policy shall be signed by the Accountable Manager of the organization.
- (c) The safety policy shall be in accordance with national, international and organizational standards, and reflect organizational commitments regarding safety.
- (d) The safety policy shall be communicated, with visible endorsement, throughout the organization.
- (e) The safety policy shall include a clear statement about the provision of the necessary human and financial resources for its implementation.
- (f) The safety policy shall, inter alia, include the following objectives:
 - (1) Commitment to implement an SMS;
 - (2) Commitment to continual improvement in the level of safety;
 - (3) Commitment to the management of safety risks;
 - (4) Commitment to encourage employees to report safety issues;
 - (5) Establishment of clear standards for acceptable behaviour; and
 - (6) Identification of responsibilities of management and employees with respect to safety performance.
- (g) The safety policy shall be reviewed periodically to ensure it remains relevant and appropriate to the organization.

- (h) An operator and/or service provider shall establish safety objectives for the SMS.
- (i) The safety objectives should be linked to the safety performance indicators, safety performance targets and safety requirements of the operator and/or service provider SMS.

19.103 Organizational structure and responsibilities.

- (a) An operator and/or service provider shall identify an Accountable Executive to be responsible and accountable on behalf of the operator and/or service provider for meeting the requirements of this part, and shall notify the CARC the name of the person.
- (b) The Accountable Executive shall be a single, identifiable person who, irrespective of other functions, shall have the ultimate responsibility for the implementation and maintenance of the SMS.
- (c) The Accountable Executive shall have:
 - (1) Full control of the human resources required for the operations authorized to be conducted under the operations certificate;
 - (2) Full control of the financial resources required for the operations authorized to be conducted under the operations certificate;
 - (3) Final authority over operations authorized to be conducted under the operations certificate;
 - (4) Direct responsibility for the conduct of the organization's affairs; and final responsibility for all safety issues.
- (d) An operator and or/a service provider shall establish the safety structure necessary for the implementation and maintenance of the organization's SMS.
- (e) An operator and or/a service provider shall identify the safety responsibilities of all members of senior management, irrespective of other responsibilities.

- (f) Safety-related positions, responsibilities and authorities shall be defined, documented and communicated throughout the organization.
- (g) An Operator and/or service provider shall identify a Safety Manager to be a member of management who shall be the responsible individual and focal point for the implementation and maintenance of an effective SMS.
- (h) The Safety Manager shall:
 - (1) Ensure that processes needed for the SMS are established, implemented and maintained;
 - (2) Report to the Accountable Executive on the performance of the SMS and on any need for improvement; and
 - (3) Ensure safety promotion throughout the organization.

19.105 SMS implementation plan.

- (a) An Operator and/or service provider shall develop and maintain an SMS implementation plan.
- (b) The SMS implementation plan shall be the definition of the approach the organization will adopt for managing safety in a manner that will meet the organization's safety needs.
- (c)The SMS implementation plan shall include the following:
 - (1) Safety policy and objectives;
 - (2) Safety roles and responsibilities;
 - (3) System description;
 - (4) Gap analysis;
 - (5) SMS components;
 - (6) Safety performance measurement;
 - (7) Safety reporting policy;
 - (8) Safety communication;

- (9) Means of employee involvement; and
- (10) Management review of safety performance.
- (d) The SMS implementation plan shall be endorsed by senior management of the organization.
- (e) A service provider shall, as part of the development of the SMS implementation plan, complete a system description.
- (f) The system description shall include the following:
 - (1) The system interactions with other systems in the air transportation system;
 - (2) The system functions;
 - (3) Required Human Factors considerations of the system operation;
 - (4) Hardware components of the system;
 - (5) Software components of the system;
 - (6) Related procedures that define guidance for the operation and use of the system;
 - (7) Operational environment; and
 - (8) Contracted and purchased products and services.
- (g) An operator and /or service provider shall, as part of the development of the SMS implementation plan, complete a gap analysis, in order to:
 - (1) Identify the safety arrangements existing within the organization; and
 - (2) Determine additional safety arrangements required to implement and maintain the organization's SMS.

19.107 Coordination of the emergency response plan.

(a) An operator and /or service provider shall develop and maintain, or coordinate, as appropriate, an Emergency Response Plan (ERP) that shall ensure:

- (1) Orderly and efficient transition from normal to emergency operations;
- (2) Designation of emergency entities;
- (3) Assignment of emergency responsibilities;
- (4) Coordination of efforts to cope with the emergency; and
- (5) Safe continuation of operations, or return to normal operations as soon as possible.

19.109 Documentation.

- (a) An operator and /or service provider shall develop and maintain SMS documentation, in paper or electronic form, to describe the following:
 - (1) Safety policy;
 - (2) Safety objectives;
 - (3) SMS requirements, procedures and processes;
 - (4) Responsibilities and authorities for procedures and processes; and
 - (5) SMS outputs.
- (b) An operator and /or service provider shall, as part of the SMS documentation, develop and maintain a safety management manual (SMM), to communicate the organization's approach to safety throughout the organization.
- (c) The SMM shall document all aspects of the SMS, and its contents shall include the following:
 - (1) Scope of the safety management system;
 - (2) Safety policy and objectives;
 - (3) Safety accountabilities;
 - (4) Key safety personnel;
 - (5) Documentation control procedures;
 - (6) Emergency response planning;

- (7) Hazard identification and risk management schemes;
- (8) Safety performance monitoring;
- (9) Management of change;
- (10) Safety auditing; and
- (11) Safety promotion.

19.111 Thru 19-199 Reserved.

Subpart - C Safety risk management.

19.201 General.

- (a) An operator and/or service provider shall develop and maintain safety data collection and processing systems (SDCPS) that provide for the identification of hazards and the analysis and assessment of risks.
- (b) An operators and/or service providers SDCPS shall include reactive, proactive and predictive methods of hazard identification and safety data collection.

19.203 Hazard identification.

- (a) An Operator /and or service provider shall develop and maintain formal means of collecting, recording, acting on and generating feedback about hazards in operations, which combine reactive, proactive and predictive methods of safety data collection.
- (b) The hazard identification process shall include the following steps:
 - (1) Reporting of hazards, events or safety concerns;
 - (2) Collection and storing the safety data;
 - (3) Analysis of the safety data; and
 - (4) Distribution of the safety information distilled from the safety data.

19.205 Risk management.

- (a) An operator and/or service provider shall develop and maintain a formal risk assessment and mitigation process that ensures the elimination and/or mitigation of risks to an acceptable level.
- (b) The risks in each hazard identified through the hazard identification processes described in section 19.203 of this part shall be analyzed in terms of probability and severity of occurrence, and assessed for their tolerability.
- (c) The organization shall define the levels of management with authority to make safety risk tolerability decisions.
- (d) The organization shall define safety control for each risk assessed as intolerable.

19.207 Internal safety investigations.

(a) An operator and/or service provider shall, as part of the SMS, develop and maintain formal processes for the internal investigation of occurrences that are not required to be investigated by the CARC or reported to the oversight authority.

19.209 Thru 19.299 Reserved.

Subpart - D Safety assurance

19.301 General.

- (a) An operator and/or service provider shall develop and maintain safety assurance processes to ensure that the safety risks controls developed as a consequence of the hazard identification and risk management activities under paragraph 19.205 achieve their intended objectives.
- (b) Safety assurance processes shall apply to an SMS whether the activities and/or operations are accomplished internally or outsourced.

19.303 Safety performance monitoring and measurement.

- (a) An operator and/or service provider shall, as part of the SMS safety assurance activities, develop and maintain the necessary means to verify safety performance of the organization in comparison with the approved safety policies and objectives, and to validate the effectiveness of implemented safety risk controls.
- (b) Safety performance monitoring and measurement means shall include the following:
 - (1) Safety reporting;
 - (2) Safety audits;
 - (3) Safety surveys.
 - (4) Safety reviews;
 - (5) Internal safety investigations.
- (c) The safety reporting procedure shall set out the conditions under which immunity from disciplinary action would be considered.

19.305 Management of change.

- (a) An operator and/or service provider shall, as part of the SMS safety assurance activities, develop and maintain a formal process for the management of change.
- (b) The formal process for the management of change shall:
 - (1) Identify changes within the organization which may affect established processes and services;
 - (2) Describe the arrangements to ensure safety performance before implementing changes; and
 - (3) Eliminate or modify safety risk controls that are no longer needed due to changes in the operational environment.

19.307 Continuous improvement of the safety system.

- (a) An operator and/or service provider shall, as part of the SMS safety assurance activities, develop and maintain formal processes to identify the causes of under-performance of the SMS, determine the implications in its operation, and eliminate such causes, in order to ensure the continual improvement of the SMS.
- (b) Continuous improvement of the operator and/or service provider SMS shall include:
 - (1) Proactive and reactive evaluations of facilities, equipment, documentation and procedures, to verify the effectiveness of strategies for control of safety risks; and
 - (2) Proactive evaluation of the individuals' performance, to verify the fulfillment of safety responsibilities.

19.309 Thru 19.399 Reserved.

Subpart - E Safety promotion

19.401 General.

Operators and/or Service providers shall develop and maintain formal safety training and safety communication activities to create an environment where the safety objectives of the organization can be achieved.

19.403 Safety training.

- (a) An operator and/or service provider shall, as part of its safety promotion activities, develop and maintain a safety training programme that ensures that personnel are trained and competent to perform the SMS duties.
- (b) The scope of the safety training shall be appropriate to the individual's involvement in the SMS.

- (c) The Accountable Executive shall receive safety awareness training regarding:
 - (1) SMS roles and responsibilities;
 - (2) Safety policy;
 - (3) SMS objectives; and
 - (4) Safety assurance.

19.405 Safety communication.

- (a) An operator and/or service provider shall, as part of its safety promotion activities, develop and maintain formal means for safety communication, to:
 - (1) Ensure that all staff is fully aware of the SMS;
 - (2) Convey safety critical information;
 - (3) Explain why particular safety actions are taken; and
 - (4) Explain why safety procedures are introduced or changed.
- (b) Formal means of safety communication shall include:
 - (1) Safety policies and procedures;
 - (2) News letters; and
 - (3) Bulletins.

19.407 Quality policy.

An operator and/or service provider shall ensure that the organization quality policy is consistent with, and supports the fulfilment of the activities of the SMS.

19.409 Thru 19.499 Reserved.

Subpart - F Implementation of the SMS

19.501 Phases of the SMS Implementation.

- (a) This part proposes, but does not mandate, a phased implementation of an operator and/or service provider SMS, which encompasses four phases as described in paragraph (b) through paragraph (e) hereunder.
- (b) Phase (1) provides a blueprint on how the SMS requirements will be met and integrated to the organization's work activities, and an accountability framework for the implementation of the SMS:
 - (1) Identify the accountable executive and the safety accountabilities of managers;
 - (2) Identify the person (or planning group) within the organization responsible for implementing the SMS;
 - (3) Describe the system (Air operator, ATC services provider, approved maintenance organization, certified aerodrome operator);
 - (4) Conduct a gap analysis of the organization's existing resources compared with the national and international requirements for establishing a SMS;
 - (5) Develop an SMS implementation plan that explains how the organization will implement the SMS on the basis of national requirements and international Standards and Recommended Practices (SARPs), the system description and the results of the gap analysis;
 - (6) Develop documentation relevant to safety policy and objectives; and
 - (7) Develop and establish means for safety communication.
- (c) Phase (2) puts into practice those elements of the SMS implementation plan that refer to the safety risk management reactive processes:
 - (1) Investigation and analysis;

- (2) Hazard identification and risk management; and(3) Training relevant to:
 - (i) SMS implementation plan components; and
 - (ii) Safety risk management (reactive processes).
- (4) Documentation relevant to:
 - (i) SMS implementation plan components; and
 - (ii) Safety risk management (reactive processes).
- (d) Phase (3) puts into practice those elements of the SMS implementation plan that refer to safety risk management, proactive processes:
 - (1) Investigation and analysis;
 - (2) Hazard identification and risk management; and
 - (3) Training relevant to:
 - (i) SMS implementation plan components; and
 - (ii) Safety risk management (proactive processes).
 - (4) Documentation relevant to:
 - (i) SMS implementation plan components; and
 - (ii) Safety risk management (proactive processes).
- (e) Phase (4) puts into practice operational safety assurance:
 - (1) Development of acceptable level (s) of safety;
 - (2) Development of safety indicators and targets;
 - (3) SMS continuous improvement;

- (4) Training relevant to operational safety assurance; and
- (5) Documentation relevant to operational safety assurance.

Appendix-A

Application for SMS Acceptance In compliance with JCAR- Part 19 Complete and Mail to: Jordan Civil Aviation Regulatory Commission Amman -Jordan P. O. Box 7547- Area Code 11110 Name of Operator: Address of Operator: Service Provider: Airport Operator Air operator **ANS** □ Maintenance Organization SMS Documentation Descriptions Name, title (and address if different than above) of Signature person filing this application - type or print Date of signature Telephone No. (Precede with area code) **CARC SMS Committee Review** Date: CARC SMS Committee Signature: ☐ Meet Requirements □ Not Meet Requirements Recommendation □ Recommend the acceptance Chief Commissioner / CEO Signature: Date: ☐ Acceptable

CARC Form DASS-19 Aug,2008